Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-28-2017

Marquez v. Pierce Painting, Inc. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45415

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(i) Nature of the Case

Elfego Marquez is an undocumented worker from Mexico, who sustained an industrial accident while working for Pierce Painting, Inc. ("Pierce Painting") on May 20, 2010. Mr. Marquez filed a claim for workers compensation. The State Insurance Fund ("SIF") has paid medical, temporary disability, and permanent partial impairment benefits to Mr. Marquez. SIF denied permanent disability benefits because Mr. Marquez's status as an undocumented worker eclipses his injury-related impairment, pursuant to Idaho Code § 72-425 and § 72-430 and precedent set forth in Idaho Industrial Commission rulings in *Diaz v. Franklin Building Supply*, 2009 WL 5850572 (2009 Idaho Ind. Com.) and *Otero v. Briggs Roofing Co.*, 2011 WL 4429193 (2011 Idaho Ind. Com.).

Mr. Marquez filed a claim with the Idaho Industrial Commission seeking permanent disability benefits. At the hearing before Referee Alan Taylor, the parties stipulated to most relevant facts. The only issue that was determined by Referee Taylor was whether Mr. Marquez was entitled to permanent partial disability in excess of impairment, but not the extent of his permanent disability.

Referee Taylor determined Mr. Marquez had not proven that due to his industrial accident he was entitled to permanent disability in excess of impairment, since his undocumented status eclipsed his all other factors. This appeal arises from the State Industrial Commission's refusal to adopt Referee's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendations dated May 1, 2017, and decision to award Mr. Marquez permanent disability in excess of impairment, overruling precedent set forth in *Diaz* and *Otero*, and concluding that examination of an injured worker's

entitlement to permanent disability can no longer include consideration of the worker's immigration status.

(ii) Course of Proceedings

On April 14, 2015, Mr. Marquez filed a Workers' Compensation Complaint, claiming injury to his wrist and right shoulder. R., pp. 1-5. On May 1, 2015, Mr. Marquez filed an Amended Workers' Compensation Complaint. R., pp. 6-10. On May 5, 2015, Pierce Painting and SIF filed and Answer to Complaint, stating that SIF has paid \$8,487.60 in PPI, \$30,985.87 in TTD, and \$87,526.64 in medical expenses. R., pp. 11-12. On May 14, 2015, Pierce Painting and SIF filed an Answer to Amended Complaint. R., pp. 13-14.

On July 28, 2016, counsel for Claimant and counsel for Defendants filed a Stipulation of Facts, stipulating that:

- 1. Claimant Elfego Marquez is not legally in the United States.
- 2. Claimant Elfego Marquez has no legal access to the Idaho or United States Labor Markets.
- 3. The Defendants acknowledge that Claimant sustained an industrial injury on May 20, 2010.
- 4. Claimant injured his right wrist and his right shoulder in the industrial accident on May 20, 2010.
- 5. Defendants have paid medical bills.
- 6. Defendants have paid permanent partial impairment in full.
- 7. The parties dispute Claimant's entitlement to disability in excess of his impairment.

R., pp. 18-20.

Also on July 28, 2016, a hearing was held before Referee Alan Taylor. See *Additional Document: Referee Taylor's Recommendation, dated May 1, 2017*, p. 1. The sole issue determined

at the hearing was whether Mr. Marquez was entitled to permanent disability in excess of impairment, but not the extent of his permanent disability. See *Id.*, pp. 1-2. After considering all the facts presented, Referee Taylor determined that Mr. Marquez was covered under Idaho's Workers' Compensation Act. However, since Mr. Marquez was and is an undocumented worker, Referee Taylor concluded his "pre-existing undocumented status entirely eclipses his permanent impairment and extinguishes his present and probable future lawful wage earning capacity in Idaho and the U.S.", and therefore, "Claimant has not proven that due to his industrial accident he is entitled to permanent disability in excess of impairment." See *Id.*, p. 29.

On July 10, 2017, the Industrial Commission issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order and Dissenting Opinion. R., pp. 21-56. The Commission, by a 2-1 majority, determined that Mr. Marquez's claim for permanent disability in excess of impairment must be evaluated without reference to his immigration status. R., p. 50. Chairman Limbaugh filed his dissenting opinion, and like Referee Taylor, concluded that Mr. Marquez's "undocumented statute [sic] is a more limiting factor that entirely eclipses his injury-related impairment" and therefore, "Claimant should not be awarded any permanent physical disability in excess of impairment." R. p. 56.

On July 28, 2017, Pierce Painting and SIF filed a Motion to Reconsider with a supporting memorandum. R., pp. 60-72. On August 25, 2017, the Industrial Commission entered an Order on Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration, denying said motion. R., pp. 73-79.

On August 29, 2017, Pierce Painting and SIF filed a Motion for Immediate Appeal. R., pp. 80-83. The Industrial Commission entered an Order Granting Immediate Appeal on September 21, 2017. R., pp. 84-85. On October 4, 2017, Pierce Painting and SIF filed their Notice of Expedited Appeal, pursuant to Idaho Appellate Rule 12.4. R., pp. 86-90.

(iii) Statement of Facts

The following is a statement of undisputed facts developed through discovery, Rule 10 disclosures, the Deposition of Elfego Marquez, the Stipulation of Facts dated July 28, 2016 (R. pp. 18-20), the hearing testimony of Ken Halcomb of the Industrial Commission Rehabilitation Division, and the hearing testimony of Elfego Marquez dated July 28, 2016.

Elfego Marquez Rivera is a 47 year old individual who was born in Ixtlahuaca, Mexico and grew up in Santo Domingo de Guzmán. Tr., p. 41. Mr. Marquez currently lives in Emmett, Idaho and has lived there for the past seventeen years. Tr., pp. 41, 68. Mr. Marquez is married and has two children, a son and a daughter. Tr., pp. 70-71.

Mr. Marquez attended school in Mexico and received a university degree. Tr., p. 42. He worked as a teacher in Mexico for seven years before coming to the United States in 1999 or 2000. Tr., pp. 42-43. Mr. Marquez testified that he earned approximately 1500 pesos every fifteen days, which he equated to approximately \$150.00. Tr., p. 44. When Mr. Marquez arrived in the United States, he attempted to find employment as a teacher, but was unable to do so due to language barriers. Tr., p. 47. Mr. Marquez began working as a dish washer at a restaurant in Escondido, California. Tr., p. 48. He did not have a visa, resident alien card, or Social Security number when he arrived in the United States. Tr., pp. 47-48. While in California, Mr. Marquez purchased a fake Social Security number in order to secure employment. Tr., p. 48. Mr. Marquez was promoted to busboy at the same restaurant in Escondido, where he worked for seven or eight months. Tr., p. 51.

Mr. Marquez was married with a daughter at the time he moved to the United States. Tr., p. 46. He initially moved to the United States by himself, but during his employment with the restaurant, he was able to send money to his wife and daughter so they could join him in the United

States. Tr., p. 52. After living a short while in California, Mr. Marquez's wife and daughter moved to Idaho because his wife has family in Idaho. Tr., p. 52. After approximately eight months of working in California, Mr. Marquez moved to Idaho to join his family. Tr., p. 52.

Once in Idaho, Mr. Marquez began working in painting for Don Currier. Tr., pp. 52-53. Shortly thereafter, Mr. Marquez began working for Pierce Painting. Tr., p. 53. He performed preparation work, prepared wood, sanded frames, cleaned houses, and covered everything. Tr., pp. 54-55. Mr. Marquez made \$9.00 per hour when he started working for Pierce Painting. Tr., p. 55. The highest wage Mr. Marquez earned with Pierce Painting was \$14.00 per hour, though he was making \$12.00 per hour at the time of his accident. Tr., pp. 55-56.

Mr. Marquez testified that Rick Pierce, his supervisor at Pierce Painting told him to get another Social Security card. Tr., pp. 49-50. Mr. Marquez stated that he purchased a new Social Security card and in three days, they gave it to his boss, and he said it was okay. Tr., p. 50. In response to the question of whether Mr. Pierce was aware if Mr. Marquez's new social security card was one that he had purchased, Mr. Marquez testified "Well, I think so." Tr., p. 51.

Mr. Marquez worked for Pierce Painting for approximately nine years before his accident. On May 20, 2010, Mr. Marquez was injured when he fell from a couple of buckets that he had stacked to reach a frame of a door. Tr., pp. 57-58. He broke his wrist and injured his right shoulder in the fall. Tr., p. 58. Mr. Marquez was treated by Dr. Hassinger for his wrist and shoulder injuries. Tr., pp. 59-60. Mr. Marquez testified that he still suffers from loss of strength in his right arm, pain in his wrist, and pain and reduced range of motion in his shoulder. Tr., pp. 60-62. Mr. Marquez had two surgeries performed on his right shoulder. Tr., pp. 60-62. He has not received treatment for his shoulder since 2012. Tr., p. 62. Mr. Marquez has not worked since 2012 when he last saw Dr. Hassinger. Tr., pp. 62-63.

Mr. Marquez met with Industrial Commission rehabilitation consultant Ken Halcomb, who helped determine Mr. Marquez's medical status, his treatment plan, what type of work history he had, and what his intentions were on returning to work. Tr., p. 24. Mr. Halcomb assisted Mr. Marquez in determining his transferable skills and other interests he may have had. Tr., p. 25. Mr. Halcomb was unaware that Mr. Marquez was an undocumented worker, so he worked with him to find out when he would be able to go back to work, what he would be able to do, and where he was planning to go to work. Tr., p. 26. In June 2012, Mr. Halcomb referred Mr. Marquez to several available positions that he believed Mr. Marquez would be able to perform with his physical restrictions. Tr., pp. 28-29. Mr. Marquez went to the Department of Labor in Emmett to seek job leads, but was told they could not help him and he could not apply for any jobs if he did not have a Social Security number and card. Tr. pp. 34, 69. Mr. Halcomb was not aware that Mr. Marquez was undocumented, but testified that if he had been aware, he would have proceeded to case closure, would not have referred him to the Department of Labor for job leads, and would not have provided him with job leads during the case because Mr. Halcomb is not allowed to participate in sharing job leads with someone who is not documented. Tr., p. 26.

Mr. Marquez claims he once attempted to obtain legal status in the United States by talking to an immigration attorney, but was told that there was no law that would allow him to fix his legal status. Tr., pp. 69-70. Mr. Marquez's meeting with an immigration attorney was the extent of his attempt to obtain legal status. Tr., p. 70. Mr. Marquez has not indicated that he plans to leave Emmett, Idaho; he likes it there. Tr., p. 68.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the Industrial Commission commit reversible error by holding that the most appropriate way to measure permanent partial disability ("PPD") under Idaho Code § 72-425 and § 72-430 is to evaluate disability without reference to Claimant's immigration status, and finding that Mr. Marquez met his burden of establishing permanent disability?
 - (a) Did the Industrial Commission majority contradict the plain language of Idaho Code §§ 72-425 and 72-430, which requires consideration of "pertinent nonmedical factors"?
 - (b) Is an employee's legal right to work, as set forth in the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 ("IRCA"), a pertinent nonmedical factor which must be considered?
 - (c) Did the Industrial Commission majority commit error in overruling precedent set in Diaz and Otero?
 - (d) Did the Industrial Commission majority create a two-tiered system where undocumented workers are evaluated differently than documented workers?
 - (e) Did the Industrial Commission majority commit error by creating a system that can provide enhanced benefits to undocumented workers over documented workers?
 - (f) Does the Industrial Commission's ruling, resulting in an award of future wage loss to an undocumented worker, contravene precedent set in *Hoffman* and *Brown*?

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

"When reviewing a decision by the Industrial Commission, this Court exercises free review over the Commission's conclusions of law, but will not disturb the Commission's factual findings if they are supported by substantial and competent evidence. *Knowlton v. Wood River Med. Ctr.*, 151 Idaho 135, 140, 254 P.3d 36, 41 (2011). Idaho Code § 72-732 provides:

Upon hearing the court may affirm or set aside such order or award, or may set it aside only upon any of the following grounds:

- (1) The commission's findings of fact are not based on any substantial competent evidence;
- (2) The commission has acted without jurisdiction or in excess of its powers;
- (3) The findings of fact, order or award were procured by fraud;
- (4) The findings of fact do not as a matter of law support the order or award.

"[The Court is] not bound by conclusions of law drawn by the Commission; an order of the Commission must be set aside where the law is misapplied to the evidence." *Combs v. Kelly Logging*, 115 Idaho 695, 697, 769 P.2d 572, 574 (1989).

- II. The Industrial Commission committed reversible error by holding that the most appropriate way to measure PPD under Idaho Code § 72-425 and § 72-430 is to evaluate disability without reference to Claimant's immigration status, and finding that Mr. Marquez met his burden of establishing permanent disability.
 - (a) The plain language of Idaho Code §§ 72-425 and 72-430 requires consideration of "pertinent nonmedical factors"

It is the claimant's burden to prove entitlement to permanent disability in excess of impairment. *Seese v. Ideal of Idaho, Inc.*, 110 Idaho 32, 34, 714 P.2d 1, 3 (1986). The Commission,

by ruling that Mr. Marquez is entitled to permanent disability in excess of impairment, and that immigration status cannot be considered, overruled the Commission's prior precedent set forth in *Diaz* and *Otero*. The Commission determined that the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 ("IRCA") does not preempt Idaho Code §§ 72-425 and 72-430 and ruled that permanent disability in excess of impairment now be decided without consideration of a claimant's immigration status. This ruling contradicts the plain meaning of Idaho's workers' compensation laws set forth in the Idaho Code.

When interpreting a statute, interpretation begins with the statute's plain language. *Bright v. Maznik*, 162 Idaho 311, 314, 396 P.3d 1193, 1196 (2017) citing *State v. Burnight*, 132 Idaho 654, 659, 978 P.2d 214, 219 (1999). "That language is to be given its plain, obvious and rational meaning." *Id.* "If that language is clear and unambiguous, 'the Court need merely apply the statute without engaging in any statutory construction." *Id.*, 162 Idaho at 315, 396 P.3d at 1197 quoting *Burnight*, 132 Idaho at 659, 978 P.2d at 219. "To determine the meaning of a statute, the Court applies the plain and ordinary meaning of the terms and, where possible, every word, clause and sentence should be given effect." *Robison v. Bateman-Hall, Inc.*, 139 Idaho 207, 210, 76 P.3d 951, 954 (2003) citing *Rife v. Long*, 127 Idaho 841, 848, 908 P.2d 143, 153 (1995); *In re Permit No. 36-7200*, 121 Idaho 819, 822, 828 P.2d 848, 851 (1992).

Idaho Code § 72-425 provides, "Evaluation (rating) of permanent disability' is an appraisal of the injured employee's present and probable future ability to engage in gainful activity as it is affected by the medical factor of permanent impairment and by pertinent nonmedical factors as provided in section 72-430, Idaho Code." (Emphasis added). Idaho Code § 72-430(1) provides (with emphasis added):

In determining percentages of permanent disabilities, account shall be taken of the nature of the physical disablement, the disfigurement if of a kind likely to limit the

employee in procuring or holding employment, the cumulative effect of multiple injuries, the occupation of the employee, and his age at the time of accident causing the injury, or manifestation of the occupational disease, consideration being given to the diminished ability of the afflicted employee to compete in an open labor market within a reasonable geographical area considering all the personal and economic circumstances of the employee, and other factors as the commission may deem relevant, provided that when a scheduled or unscheduled income benefit is paid or payable for the permanent partial or total loss or loss of use of a member or organ of the body no additional benefit shall be payable for disfigurement.

The Commission's ruling contradicts the plain language of Idaho Code §§ 72-425 and 72-430. The Commission's new rule that an award of PPD must be appraised without consideration of a claimant's immigration status amounts to the Commission reading words into the statute that are not in the plain meaning of the text. Pertinent nonmedical factors must be considered, including "all the personal and economic circumstances of the employee." The Commission has determined that only lawful employment will be considered when determining PPD. R., p. 49. If only lawful employment is considered, then all factors affecting Mr. Marquez's access to the legal labor market are not being considered under the Commission's proposed system, in contravention of Idaho Code §§ 72-425 and 72-430.

Appellants recognize that Mr. Marquez is entitled to some workers' compensation benefits. Appellants' position is that he is not entitled to permanent disability in excess of impairment, because the fact that Mr. Marquez does not have legal access to the labor market eclipses all other pertinent factors that must be considered under Idaho Code §§ 72-425 and 72-430. Appellants paid Mr. Marquez's medical expenses, temporary total disability ("TTD") benefits, and permanent partial impairment ("PPI") benefits. Idaho Code sections relating to the payment of medical expenses (Idaho Code § 72-432), TTD (Idaho Code § 72-408), and PPI (Idaho Code § 72-424) do not require the same analysis of pertinent nonmedical factors as do PPD determinations. SIF has

in fact paid over \$127,000.00 in workers' compensation benefits to Mr. Marquez, as noted in the parties' stipulated facts.

(b) An employee's legal right to work, as set forth in IRCA, is certainly a pertinent nonmedical factor, which under Idaho law, must be considered

IRCA sets forth the basis under which it is illegal for an employer to hire and employ an undocumented worker. Under IRCA, "it is unlawful for a person or other entity to hire, or to recruit or refer for a fee, for employment in the United States an alien knowing the alien is an unauthorized alien." 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(a)(1)(A). "It is unlawful for a person or other entity, after hiring an alien for employment in accordance with paragraph (1), to continue to employ the alien in the United States knowing the alien is (or has become) an unauthorized alien with respect to such employment. 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(a)(2). "Any person or entity which engages in a pattern or practice of violations of subsection (a)(1)(A) or (a)(2) shall be fined not more than \$3,000 for each unauthorized alien with respect to whom such a violation occurs, imprisoned for not more than six months for the entire pattern or practice, or both, notwithstanding the provisions of any other Federal law relating to fine levels." Pursuant to 8 U.S.C. § 1324c(a):

It is unlawful for any person or entity knowingly –

- (1) to forge, counterfeit, alter, or falsely make any document for purpose of satisfying a requirement of this chapter or to obtain a benefit under this chapter,
- (2) to use, attempt to use, possess, obtain, accept, or receive or to provide any forged, counterfeit, altered, or falsely made document in order to satisfy any requirement of this chapter or to obtain a benefit under this chapter,
- (3) to use or attempt to use or to provide or attempt to provide any document lawfully issued to or with respect to a person other than the possessor (including a deceased individual) for the purpose of satisfying a requirement of this chapter or obtaining a benefit under this chapter,
- (4) to accept or receive or to provide any document lawfully issued to or with respect to a person other than the possessor (including a deceased individual)

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