Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-18-2018

Marquez v. Pierce Painting, Inc. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45415

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

⁵³ The Idaho Industrial Commission has jurisdiction over workers' compensation benefits under the IWCA as well as the unemployment benefits under the IESA. Consequently, the Idaho Industrial Commission is familiar with the requirements of both Acts.

The broadly inclusive language of the IWCA provides coverage and benefits, including permanent disability benefits, to all injured Idaho employees without consideration of the law-fulness of employment. The IWCA contains no language excluding undocumented workers from its coverage and benefits, including permanent disability benefits. Any other interpretation of the IWCA would contravene the well-established principle that "workers' compensation laws are liberally construed in favor of the employee [whether lawfully or unlawfully employed], in order to serve the humane purpose behind the law." *Estate of Aikele v. City of Blackfoot*, 160 Idaho 903, 908, 382 P.3d 352, 357 (2016). *See also Davaz*, 125 Idaho at 336-37, 870 P.2d at 1295-96; I.C. § 72-204(2).

II. Legislative history supports interpreting the IWCA as providing coverage and benefits to all Idaho employees without regard to immigration status.

A. Legislative history surrounding the enactment of the IWCA reveals that immigration status is irrelevant for purposes of permanent disability benefits.

Because undocumented workers are a significant contributor to Idaho's economy, the Idaho legislature has seen fit to provide coverage and benefits to undocumented workers. The legislative policy for the enactment of the IWCA is set forth in I.C. § 72-201. As stated therein, the principal upon which the entire IWCA rests is that "[t]he welfare of the state depends upon its industries *and even more upon the welfare of its wageworkers*." I.C. § 72-201 (Emphasis added). It cannot be disputed that undocumented workers are "wageworkers" in the State of Idaho and that the "welfare" of undocumented workers is therefore paramount under the IWCA.

20

In 2012, it was estimated that there were approximately 8.1 million undocumented workers in the United States comprising approximately 5.1% of the nation's labor force. *See Roos Foods v. Guardado*, 152 A.3d 114, 120 n.31 (Del. 2016) (citing Jeffrey S. Passel & D'Vera Cohn, *Pew Research Ctr.'s Hispanic Trends Project, Unauthorized Immigrant Total Rise in 7 States, Fall in 14: Decline in Those From Mexico Fuels Most State Decreases*, 29 tbl. A3 (2014)(hereinafter "Pew Research")).⁵⁴ This same Pew Research indicated that Idaho's undocumented worker population was one of the fastest growing in the nation and that, in 2012, there were approximately 35,000 undocumented workers in Idaho comprising approximately 4.6% of Idaho's labor market. *See* Pew Research at Table A3. It cannot be disputed that undocumented workers represent a significant portion of Idaho's total labor force. The Idaho Industrial Commission has found that "illegal aliens comprise a significant fraction of the agricultural workforce."⁵⁵ The Surety has not challenged this factual finding by the Commission. As a significant portion of Idaho's labor market, undocumented workers play an equally significant role in the overall economy of the State of Idaho.

Because of the impact upon the State's economy, it was sound public policy as stated in I.C. § 72-201 for the Idaho legislature to enact the IWCA with broadly inclusive language protecting the "welfare" of undocumented workers. Not only does I.C. § 72-201 express the legislative intent that the IWCA should be construed in a manner protecting the "welfare" of all workers, including undocumented workers, it also expresses the legislative intent that the IWCA

 ⁵⁴ <u>http://www.pewhispanic.org/files/2014/11/2014-11-18_unauthorized-immigration.pdf</u>.
 ⁵⁵ R. at p. 31 (Idaho Industrial Commission Order).

should be construed in a manner providing "sure and certain relief" for those workers and their families. I.C. § 72-201.

In this respect, it is important to remember how the enactment of the IWCA protected the welfare of all workers in the State. Prior to the enactment of the IWCA, the only legal recourse available to injured employees in the State of Idaho was to sue their employers in tort which required consideration of the negligence of both the employer and the employee. With the enactment of the IWCA, Idaho employees were provided injury benefits "regardless of questions of fault" but "to the exclusion of every other remedy." I.C. § 72-201. In other words, the coverage and benefits of the IWCA came with a *quid pro quo* eliminating tort relief for injured employees. *See Venters v. Sorrento Del., Inc.*, 141 Idaho 245, 251, 108 P.3d 392, 398 (2005) ("[T]his liability for payment of workers' compensation benefits comes with a *quid pro quo*, in the form of tort immunity."). As a *quid pro quo* exchange, it must be assumed that the Idaho legislature intended for the IWCA to be construed in a manner providing benefits to injured Idaho workers that are at least as valuable, albeit different, than those that had previously been available under common law tort principles.

The tort remedies originally available to undocumented workers in Idaho were addressed by this Court in the case of *Sanchez v. Galey*, 112 Idaho 609, 733 P.2d 1234 (1986). In that case, an undocumented agricultural worker brought a tort claim against his employer for the loss of his hand in a potato harvester.⁵⁶ The jury awarded \$1,350,000 in damages. On appeal, the employer argued that evidence of the worker's status as an illegal alien should not have been excluded at trial. This Court rejected the employer's argument, because the effect that the worker's status as an illegal alien might have on his future wage loss as a result of deportation or otherwise was "merely speculative," particularly given that the worker had already been in the United States for more than six years at the time of trial. *Id.* at p. 624, 733 P.2d at 1249. This Court commented that "it is anomalous for [the employer] to complain about [the undocumented worker] being compensated on the basis of the wages he was receiving" after the employer "accepted the bene-fits of his labors as an illegal alien." *Id.*

The judicial directive in the *Sanchez* case was clear. With respect to a tort claim filed by an injured undocumented worker against an employer, the injured worker was entitled to pursue future lost wages without regard to the injured worker's immigration status. Consequently, this Court held that it was appropriate calculate an undocumented worker's future wage loss based upon the wage rate that the worker had been receiving in the United States. *Id.* at p. 624, 733 P.2d at 1249.

Although tort remedies were eliminated by the IWCA, the Idaho legislature nevertheless drafted the IWCA to provide a benefit for probable future wage loss to injured workers in the form of IWCA permanent disability benefits. *See* I.C. § 72-425 (defining the evaluation of permanent disability as being an "appraisal of the injured employee's present and probable future

⁵⁶ At the time of this case, agricultural workers were exempted from the IWCA. As discussed below, the IWCA was amended in 1996 to include agricultural workers.

ability to engage in gainful activity"). This was a critical component of the *quid pro quo* substitution of common law tort with IWCA benefits for Idaho employees.

Just as immigration status was irrelevant to a future wage loss claim under common law tort, it is equally irrelevant to a permanent disability claim under the IWCA. It would be unreasonable to construe the IWCA any other way, particularly given the legislative and judicial mandate that it be construed liberally to ensure sure and certain relief to all Idaho workers, including undocumented workers. *See* I.C. 72-201 ("The welfare of the state depends...upon the welfare of its wageworkers...sure and certain relief for injured workmen and their families and dependents is hereby provided."); *Davaz*, 125 Idaho at 336-37, 870 P.2d at 1295-96 ("[W]e must liberally construe the provisions of the workers' compensation law in favor of the employee, in order to serve the humane purpose for which the law was promulgated.").

B. Legislative history surrounding the 1996 repeal of the agricultural exemption from the IWCA further reveals that immigration status is irrelevant for purposes of permanent disability benefits.

Prior to 1996, all agricultural employment in Idaho was exempted from the IWCA, allowing agricultural employees to sue their employers in tort for work-related injuries. *See* pre-1996 version of I.C. § 72-212 at 1994 Idaho Session Laws ch. 293 § 14, p. 916.⁵⁷ During the 1996 legislative session, the Idaho legislature repealed this agricultural exemption. In so doing, the Idaho legislature held several hearings in January and February 1996, where the legislative

⁵⁷ Subsection (8) of the pre-1996 version of I.C. § 72-212 provided: "None of the provisions of this law [IWCA] shall apply to the following employments...Agricultural pursuits...[which] shall include the raising or harvesting of any agricultural or horticultural commodity...[and] shall include the loading and transporting...of any agricultural or horticultural commodity...."

committees heard from many groups with a special interest in undocumented workers, including the Migrant Farm Workers Law Unit of Idaho Legal Aid Services, the Idaho Migrant Counsel, the Idaho Farm Workers Association, the Dairymen's Association, the Idaho Hispanic Caucus, and the Mujeres Unidas de Idaho. From these hearings, it is clear that the Idaho legislature was fully aware that the repeal of the agricultural exemption would provide IWCA benefits to undocumented agricultural workers. With this awareness, had it been the Idaho legislature's intention to exclude undocumented agricultural from IWCA, the Idaho legislature would have simply included an exemption for undocumented workers in its 1996 amendment of I.C. § 72-712. The fact that the Idaho legislature did not include an exemption for undocumented workers in its 1996 amendment, knowing full well that the 1996 amendment would result in IWCA benefits being provided to undocumented workers, is a clear expression of the legislature's intention that undocumented workers receive all benefits provided by the IWCA, including permanent disability benefits.

III. The IWCA's coverage of undocumented workers is not preempted by the federal Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986.

On appeal, the Surety is arguing that an award of permanent disability benefits under the IWCA is preempted by the federal Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 ("IRCA"), which IRCA makes it unlawful for employers to knowingly hire undocumented workers and for employees to use fraudulent documents to establish employment eligibility. 8 U.S.C.S. §§ 1324a & 1324c. In support of its argument, the Surety relies upon *Hoffman Plastic Compounds, Inc. v. NLRB,* 535 U.S. 137 (2002) (hereinafter "*Hoffman*"), in which the United States Supreme Court

held that an undocumented worker was not entitled to "backpay" under the National Labor Relations Act as an optional remedy for his unlawful termination. *Hoffman*, 535 U.S. at 149-150.

The Idaho Supreme Court has not yet considered whether the IRCA preempts the IWCA with respect to undocumented workers in Idaho. However, many jurisdictions that have directly considered this issue have uniformly held that the IRCA does not preempt disability benefits provided to undocumented workers under state workers' compensation laws notwithstanding the *Hoffman* decision. *See Delaware Valley Field Services. v. Ramirez,* 105 A.3d 396 (Del. Super. Ct. 2012); *Abel Verdon Constr. v. Rivera,* 348 S.W.3d 749 (Ky. 2011); *Asylum Co. v. D.C. Department of Employment Services,* 10 A.3d 619 (D.C. 2010); *Economy Packing Co. v. Illinois Workers' Compensation Commission,* 901 N.E.2d 915 (Ill. App. Ct. 2008); *Affordable Hous. Found., Inc. v. Silva,* 469 F.3d 219 (2d Cir. 2006); *Cont'l PET Techs. v. Palacias,* 604 S.E.2d 627 (Ct. App. Ga. 2004); *Dowling v. Slotnik,* 712 A.2d 396 (Conn. 1998).

There are numerous reasons for holding that the IRCA does not preempt permanent disability benefits provided to undocumented workers under state workers' compensation laws.

First, the IRCA does not expressly preempt state laws providing disability benefits, including permanent disability benefits, to injured workers. *See Asylum Co.*, 10 A.3d at 631; *Economy Packing*, 901 N.E.2d at 921; *Affordable Hous. Found., Inc*, 469 F.3d at 239. Rather, the IRCA contains an express preemption clause which provides that "[t]he provisions of this section preempt any State or local law imposing civil or criminal sanctions...upon those who employ, or recruit or refer for a fee for employment, unauthorized aliens." 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(h)(2). Workers'

26

compensation benefits are not sanctions; they are designed to compensate an employee for workrelated injuries regardless of fault. *Economy Packing*, 901 N.E.2d at 921.

Second, although the IRCA addresses the hiring of undocumented aliens, nothing in the IRCA indicates that Congress sought to supersede state law providing workers' compensation benefits to injured employees, whether undocumented or otherwise. *Asylum Co.*, 10 A.3d at 631; *Economy Packing*, 901 N.E.2d at 922. To the contrary, the IRCA's legislative history suggests that the statute was not intended "to undermine or diminish in any way labor protections in existing law." H.R. Rep. No. 99-682(I), at 58 (1986), *as reprinted in* 1986 U.S.C.C.A.N. 5649, 5662.

Third, there is no conflict between the IRCA and providing permanent disability benefits to undocumented workers for work-related injuries. *Asylum Co.*, 10 A.3d at 631-33; *Economy Packing*, 901 N.E.2d at 922. An award of permanent disability benefits for a work-related injury is fundamentally different than the backpay for an unlawful termination as addressed in *Hoffman*. Permanent disability benefits under I.C. § 72-425 for diminished present and future ability to engage in gainful activity is a substitute remedy for common law tort, as opposed to backpay in *Hoffman*, permanent disability benefits are "not designed to make a worker whole for what he would have earned if he had not continued working for his employer during the disability period," but rather are wage loss benefits "predicated upon the loss of wager-earning capacity" with the purpose to compensate the injured worker for inability to earn a living at any job because of the work-related injury. *Asylum Co.*, 10 A.3d at 631-33. *See also* I.C. § 72-425 ("probable future ability to engage in gainful activity"). And, unlike the undocumented alien in *Hoffman*, an in-

jured undocumented worker suffers a loss of earning capacity unrelated to her violation of the IRCA. *Economy Packing*, 901 N.E.2d at 922.

Fourth, it is not illegal for an undocumented worker to seek or engage in unauthorized employment under the IRCA. This was addressed by the United States Supreme Court in *Arizona v. United States*, 567 U.S. 387 (2012) as follows:

The legislative background of IRCA underscores the fact that Congress made a deliberate choice not to impose criminal penalties on aliens who seek, or engage in, unauthorized employment. A commission established by Congress to study immigration policy and to make recommendations concluded these penalties would be "unnecessary and unworkable." … Proposals to make unauthorized work a criminal offense were debated and discussed during the long process of drafting IRCA. … But Congress rejected them. … In the end, IRCA's framework reflects a considered judgment that making criminals out of aliens engaged in unauthorized work – aliens who already face the possibility of employer exploitation because of their removable status – would be inconsistent with federal policy and objectives....

...The correct instruction to draw from the text, structure, and history of IRCA is that Congress decided it would be inappropriate to impose criminal penalties on aliens who seek or engage in unauthorized employment. It follows that a state law to the contrary is an obstacle to the regulatory system Congress chose. ...

Id. at 405-06. Because it is not illegal for illegal aliens to seek or engage in unauthorized employment under the IRCA, an award of permanent disability benefits to an undocumented worker does not conflict with the IRCA or its purposes.

Fifth, providing permanent disability benefits to an undocumented worker does not contravene the primary purpose of the IRCA to reduce illegal entry into the United States. *Economy Packing*, 901 N.E.2d at 923. The eligibility for workers' compensation benefits in the event of a work-related accident cannot "reasonably be described as an incentive for undocumented aliens to unlawfully enter the United States." *Economy Packing*, 901 N.E.2d at 922. *See also Abel Verdon Constr.*, 348 S.W.3d at 755; *Asylum Co.*, 10 A.3d at 633.

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